IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-WC-2270

CONNIE RADFORD

APPELLANT

V.

CCA-DELTA CORRECTIONAL FACILITY

APPELLEE

AND

ZURICH AMERICAN INS. CO. OF ILLINOIS

APPELLEE

ON APPEAL FROM THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

LAWRENCE J. HAKIM, ESQ. MS BAR NO.

CHARLIE BAGLAN & ASSOCIATES ATTORNEYS AT LAW 100 Public Square Post Office Box 1289 Batesville, MS 38606

Tel.: (662)563-9400 Fax: (662)563-4633

Email: <u>info@baglanlaw.com</u> Counsel for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-WC-2270

CONNIE RADFORD

APPELLANT

V.

CCA-DELTA CORRECTIONAL FACILITY

APPELLEE

AND

ZURICH AMERICAN INS. CO. OF ILLINOIS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION COMMITTED REVERSABLE ERROR AS A MATTER OF LAW AND FACT IN FINDING THAT CONNIE RADFORD DID NOT SUFFER A MENTAL INJURY ARISING FROM AND IN THE COURSE AND SCOPE OF HER EMPLOYMENT;
- II. WHETHER THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION INCORRECTLY WEIGHED THE MEDICAL EVIDENCE IN THE CASE;
- III. WHETHER THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION IGNORED THE CREDIBLE AND OVERWHELMING LAY AND MEDICAL EVIDENCE IN RULING AGAINST CONNIE RADFORD;
- IV. WHETHER THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION FAILED TO FOLLOW MISSISSIPPI LAW AND RESOLVE ISSUES OF DOUBT IN FAVOR OF CONNIE RADFORD;
- V. WHETHER THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ULTILIZED INCORRECT LEGAL STANDARDS AND/OR OTHERWISE COMMITTED LEGAL ERRORS;
- VI. WHETHER THE MISSISSIPPI WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION ACTED ARBRITARILY AND CAPRIOUSLY TOWARDS CONNIE RADFORD.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

Claimant/Appellant, Connie Radford ("Connie"), filed her Petition to Controvert alleging a mental injury, occurring on or about February 10, 2000. A Hearing, lasting five days, was initially held in the Grenada County Courthouse, in Grenada County, Mississippi on November 18, 2004, and finally concluded on January 10, 2005, at the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission in Jackson, Mississippi. The record was closed on March 23, 2005.

Issues for determination by the Administrative Judge were as follows:

- 1. Whether Claimant has a work injury in the form of post-traumatic stress syndrome and major depression resulting from the cumulative effects of her work environment necessitating the initiating of medical treatment on February 10, 2000;
- 2. Assuming compensability, the existence and extent of temporary disability attributable to Claimant's alleged work injury;
- 3. Assuming compensability, whether Claimant has reached maximum medical improvement; and if so, when;
- 4. Assuming compensability, the reasonableness and necessity of medical the medical treatment Claimant received for her alleged work injury;
- 5. Assuming compensability, the existence and extent of permanent disability attributable to Claimant's work injury.

The sole stipulation at hearing was Claimant's average weekly wage on the date of the alleged work accident. On April 27, 2005, the Administrative Judge, Honorable Tammy Harthcock, entered a 48 page ORDER OF ADMINISTRATIVE JUDGE, finding that; a.) Connie met her burden of proof by showing with clear and convincing evidence that she sustained a work-related injury in the form of post-traumatic stress disorder and major depression, resulting from the cumulative effects of her work environment necessitating the initiation of medical treatment on February 10, 2002; b.) that Connie's average weekly wage on the day of her work injury was \$403.19, as stipulated; c.) that Connie has not yet reached maximum medical

improvement and that she remained in a state of complete disability and unable to psychologically handle any work situation at the present time; and, d.) finding that certain medical treatment was reasonable and necessary and had been provided in accordance with Mississippi Workers' Compensation Law. (Order of the Administrative Judge at P. 47)

Judge Harthcock accordingly ordered the Employer/Carrier to pay temporary total disability benefits at \$268.93, (two-thirds of Connie's average weekly wage), from June 9, 2000 and continuing until Connie reached maximum medical improvement, and to provide, pay for, and furnish to Connie all reasonable and necessary medical services as the nature of her injury or the process of her recovery requires.

On or about May 17, 2005, the Employer/Carrier filed their Notice of Appeal to the Full Commission, which heard Oral Argument, January 9, 2006. On or about January 11, 2006, and only three days after Oral Argument, the Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission issued a five page "Full Commission Order" reversing and vacating the Order and Opinion of Administrative Judge, and denying and dismissing Connie's worker's compensation claim.

On or about January 19, 2006, Connie filed her Notice of Appeal of the Full Commission Order.

On September 12, 2007, the Circuit Court of Leflore County affirmed the Full Commission Order.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Claimant/Appellate, Connie Radford ("Connie") was born November 11, 1956. (R. 14) Connie came from a dysfunctional background: Her father was a verbally, emotionally and sexually abusive alcoholic, who caused Connie's mother's death and sexually abused Connie when she was a child. (R. 15-17) Connie was first married at the age of fifteen, and her husband was seventeen. (R. 17) That marriage lasted only a month. (R. 18) As a teenager, Connie was kicked out of the house by her father, and she dropped out of high school at that point. (R. 18) Connie married a second time as a teenager and her second husband was physically and mentally abusive to Connie. (R. 19) As Connie testified,

"I had three children, Your Honor, to take care of. I worked. I took beatings. I lived him for twelve years because he had myself-esteem down so low that no one would have me because I had three children and I could not provide for them, but I did."

- (<u>Id.</u>) Connie testified that she got custody of her younger sister Dawn. (R. 18) Connie eventually received a Divorce and *successfully* turned her life and circumstances around:
 - "...I had the determination that I was not going to be the person my father was. I bettered myself. I went and got my GED. I worked. I provided for three children with no help from my two natural born children between him and me. I provided for my sister. I sent them to school. I clothed them. I loved them. I played with them. They were my life. They still are my life. I worked hard. At every job I worked at, I did my best. I put everything I had into my job. I am a very loving person. I like to help people. I like to laugh and joke and I did so, up until the year of what happened to me at Delta Correctional Facility."
- (R. 20)Connie married a third time, but that marriage ended in divorce due to her spouse's infidelity. (R. 22) However, Connie and her ex-husband remain good friends. (Id.) Connie married her current husband, Donald Radford, Sr. in 1989 and had this to say about her marriage relationship to Mr. Radford:

"We have a loving, caring relationship. We are best friends. We have three children, two of which are my biological children and he has a daughter which is my daughter also. I am the type of person that can love other people. I am a mother that loves all three of my children equally."

(R. 22-23) Connie worked in a variety of fields before going to work for the Appellee. Her jobs included work in a bakery and a garment factory. (R. 24) Connie was the type of person who would go out of her way to try and please people and make peace. (Id.) Connie further testified, without rebuttal, that prior to going to work for the Appellee, she had never been fired from any of her previous jobs nor asked to leave. (R. 25)

Connie began working with the Appellee in September, 1996, starting out as a records clerk and eventually becoming supervisor over records. (R. 26-27, 33) Connie's employment with the Appellee was idyllic: she had a wonderful working relationship with Warden Grant, head of the Appellee's facility, as well as with his wife. (R. 29) In fact Warden Grant so trusted Connie that he entrusted the care of his wife, who was sick with Lupus. Connie testified as follows:

"Your Honor, not only did Warden Grant and Mrs. Janie have a working relationship, we had a friendship outside of the working. We had – supper with them. We would go out to supper with them. We laughed and talked. I don't know what went wrong with that relationship."

(R. 31) The irrefutable evidence is that Connie not only had a working relationship with the majority of her co-workers, including Warden Grant, but she consistently received outstanding performance appraisal summaries. (R. 35-42; Exhibit 9) Said performance appraisal, filled out by Warden Grant, contained comments such as the following:

"Ms. Radford is an industrious and willing worker, and extremely accurate in all that she does, placing great emphasis on details. Eager to stay abreast of the latest changes in CCA policies and procedures and MDOC policies and procedures. Ms. Radford is a self starter. She is a dedicated professional who thrives on new challenges. She is an asset to this facility and CC8."

"Ms. Radford has an outstanding records department. She quickly grasped essential elements of a problem, using great initiative and keen logic in seeking solutions."

"Ms. Radford does not believe in idle time or unfinished projects, manages own time and that of others to best possible advantage, completes large volume of work each day."

"Ms. Radford is a dedicated professional who thrives on new challenges and responsibility, a continuing source of new ideas."

"Ms. Radford is especially adapt in dealing with inmates and co-workers. She understands the worth and dignity of each individual... I, the Warden, trust Ms. Radford's judgment."

(R. 37, 38-40; Exhibit 9)

Connie was such an outstanding employee for CCA that she also received an "Employee of the Quarter Certificate", dated September 23, 1997, in recognition of Connie's "dedication to the company, comment to exceptional personal performance, and the ability to work well with others." (R. 42-43; Exhibit 10)

Connie reminisced about the first phase of her employment with CCA:

"Yes, sir, I was very proud of myself for what I had achieved in my life concerning the background of my life."

(R. 43) Unfortunately, Connie's highly positive work environment changed when assistant warden, Jacqueline Banks, transfer to the Delta Correctional Facility became permanent. (R. 44) The problems initially began when Banks started to demean Warden Grant in front of Connie. (R. 44-45)

Connie testified that Banks told Connie that she [Banks] was jealous of the working relationship Warden Grant had with Connie. (R. 46) Gradually Connie became the target of Banks' harassment and ridicule. (R. 47) Specific examples of Banks' harassment of Connie were:

Banks would laugh at Connie and ridicule her in front of Connie's co-workers. (R 48)

Banks would refuse to sign Connie's timesheets. (R. 47)

Banks would totally ignore Connie and instead would meet with a subordinate employee underneath Connie. (R. 48-49)

Banks would put down Connie's husband. (R. 50)

Banks would cuss Connie and make subtle threats of violence against her. (R. 50)

Banks told another employee that, "Warden Grant would not be in there much longer, if she had anything to do with, and my ass was out of there." (R. 50-51)

Banks accused Connie of not doing her job properly and referred to Connie as a "two-faced bitch" in front of her co-workers. (R-51-52)

Banks would scream at Connie in front of her co-workers. (R. 52)

Banks would demean Connie's work performance. (R. 66)

Unfortunately, Connie did bring this to Warden Grant's attention, but rather than rectify or in anyway correct this situation, he simply asked Connie to ignore Banks and to stay away from her. (R. 57) Connie followed Warden Banks advice, and that did not solve the problem as "Ms. Banks kept on harassing, making comments." (R. 57-58)

Finally, things got so bad for Connie that she had to file a grievance on Banks. (R. 59; Exhibit 11) In conjunction with the grievance Connie filed, a PSN (Problem Solving Notice) meeting was held.¹

In the PSN meeting, Connie testified that the following exchange took place:

"She [Banks] told me in the PSN meeting that she would go all the way around the compound not to come in contact with me, that she didn't like me, she never had liked me, that was not her job when she came there. I proceeded to tell Warden Grant — Warden Banks that that was sad because she could be a very likable person."

¹ Per CCA rules and regulations, all PSN meetings were to be tape recorded and this particular one was no exception. However, even though the tape of this particular PSN was requested in discovery, it was never provided to Appellant's counsel. (R. 60)

"She [Banks] told me that she didn't want me to like her, that's not why she was there. There was a tape recorder there, this was taped. Yes, sir, all PSNs were taped. There was a tape recorded place on the table. I do not know what happened to the tape. I had told my attorneys that it was taped, and if we had the tape everything would be told."

The grievance Connie filed on Banks was the first that she had ever filed, as Connie had never had a problem with her co-workers prior to the arrival of Banks. <u>Id</u>. (R. 62)

The grievance form that Connie filed accused Banks of:

"Continued harassment, racial slurs and remarks, threatening of job and interference of performed job duties."

(R. 63: Exhibit 12) The remedy Connie sought in her grievance was:

"Harassment and racial slurs and threatening of job and interference of performing job duty, to stop, and no retaliation to me or my husband in filing this."

(<u>Id.</u>) The grievance was prepared in May, 2000, but not received by the Employer in Nashville until June, 2003. (R. 65)

Another example of Bank's harassment of Connie was:

"She [Banks] told me if I would keep my, excuse me, ass, out of the conference room in the morning and do my job, that is what I needed to do, and I responded by telling Warden Banks, that I did do my job."
(R. 66)

It finally became all to much for Connie to handle and in January, 2000, she was forced to seek medical treatment, initially from Batesville General Practitioner, David Ball, M.D., because:

"I was experiencing low self-esteem to myself, that I wasn't performing my job duty, that I though I was. Warden Grant always praised me, that everything I did and then it changed, just all of a sudden it changed."

(Id.)² Dr. Ball prescribed medication for Connie and took her off work for a short period of time. (R. 67) When Connie returned to work, she was found that she was placed under Warden McLaurin and that she was no longer working directly under Warden Grant. (R. 67) This made Connie highly distraught;

"I couldn't figure out what I had done so wrong at that point in time with the years that I had worked there. For Warden Grant, I never once had a problem. I could not understand what I had done wrong."
(R. 67, 68)

Because of the severity of Connie's mental injury and the persistence of same, Dr. Ball referred Connie to Memphis, Tennessee, Psychiatrist, Melvin Levitch. (R. 68:Exhibit 13) ³

Because of the severity of Connie's condition, Dr. Levitch had her hospitalized at a psychiatric facility in Memphis. (R. 68: Exhibit 14) Connie described symptoms she was undergoing at the time she was hospitalized by Dr. Levitch:

"I could not sleep. I lost all respect in things. I didn't -- I was so low that everything that I had built up was gone in my life. I had a ninth grade education and I worked so hard to get to where I got, and it was taken away from me and I don't know why."
(R. 70)

Connie went on to elaborate that she felt she had lost the trust and care that Warden Grant had for her. (R. 71) Connie admitted that she saw Warden Grant as a father figure, but that he had let her down and betrayed her as her natural father had done. (R. 71)

With regard to her image of herself, Connie stated:

"She [Banks] made me feel like I was useless, that I didn't know what I was doing and I started believing after Warden Grant, it was like – he was taking – it was a jealousy here between her as far as mine and Warden Grant's relationship was. It felt like I couldn't do it anymore. I felt like I had let the Warden of the Penitentiary down."

² Ironically, Connie received a highly positive performance review less than a month before she saw Dr. Ball in February, 2000. (R. 67)

³ Dr. Levitch has been Board Certified in the field of psychiatry for 33 years.

"Your Honor, I worked so hard to bring myself up, and when I started to work for Warden Grant my self-esteem was so high, because he made me feel that way."

"I loved my job. I did the best I could do for Warden Grant. I followed his rules. I tried to make sure that everything Warden Grant wanted done, was done. I never hesitated on anything he told me to do. I did it right then. No matter what I was doing, I stopped and did what Warden Grant wanted me to do and then all of a sudden, that was taken away from me. I was not allowed to work under him — when I came back from the hospital I was replaced. He threw me away. When I came back I was working under someone else, Warden McLaurin. I didn't even know until I came in, and I was told that I didn't work under Warden Grant no more, he was not my boss, Warden McLaurin was. I tried to do my job under Warden McLaurin, but I could not stand the looks I got from the man that I had respected so much."

(R. 72-73)

Despite the harassment and loss of her self-esteem, Connie attempted to maintain her job, until she eventually had her breakdown precipitated in part by the communication of threats to her job. (R. 75-76) Connie's mental and emotional health totally deteriorated, "Because I had lost my self-esteem in myself and what I was trying to accomplish, make something out of my life for my family, for my boss, and all of a sudden I felt like I had been used, abused and thrown away." (R. 76) The last days on her job were characterized by an inability to concentrate and by constant crying. (R. 77)

Connie believed Banks was out to get her and was punishing her. (R. II. 12)

"Ms. Banks brought my self-esteem down ... She made me believe I couldn't do my job, she told me. She made sly remarks to me. She would walk down, like, the halls with some of the administration staff and walk by me and say something and just die laughing. I cried a lot in my office."

(R. II. 13) As a result of her work situation, Connie attempted to commit suicide. (R. 79) As a result of the suicide attempt she was hospitalized by Memphis, Tennessee, psychiatrist, Melvin Levitch, M.D.

As a result of her psychological work injury, Connie was granted Social Security Disability. (R. 82-83) At the time of her hearing, Connie was on Seroquel, Valium, Clopin,

Lexpro, Lepacal, and Prevacid. Connie has ongoing problems with nightmares and anxiety attacks. (R. 86)

Connie was terminated by the Employer when her medical leave ran out. (R. 86-87) Approximately six to seven months after she was terminated her husband, who was also employed at the CCA-DCF was terminated as well. (R. 86) Connie is still under Dr. Levitch's care, (R. 88), and still experiences a negative impact on her life as a result of her psychological injury. (R. 88-91)

Since her termination, Connie has had two strokes and has been diagnosed with a heart condition. (R. 92) However, there is no evidence that these conditions, in and of themselves are disabling to Connie. (R. 95-96)

Following Connie's termination the Employer completed a termination report dated November 15, 2000, which alleged that Connie was "discharged for a physical condition." (R. 99-100)

Connie's husband, Donald Radford corroborated Connie's testimony:

Q. Based, again, on your direct observation and experience, what was [Banks] conduct or behavior with regard to your wife?

A. She was very unprofessional. She picked at Connie. She would walk into a room and speak to myself or Paula Melton or Warden Grant, but she would never acknowledge that Connie was sitting there with us. I mean, that she would speak to everyone else but Connie. An the wardens and I would go out to carry people to lunch or something and when we came back, she [Banks] would run back to Connie's office and tell Connie that a waitress or something was flirting with me, trying to cause trouble. She just kept on and kept on doing that to her.

She just kept on picking at her. I went to Warden Grant, and I said, "Warden Grant, either stop it or I'm going to stop it." He said, "Don't worry about it, she's not going to be here long, we're going to deal with it." (R. II at 54-55)

Donald Radford also confirmed Warden Grant's inaction with regard to Banks harassment of Connie:

O. Did Warden Grant ever take this seriously?

A. In my opinion no, he did not. He called it a cat fight, and you know, that is what bothers me so bad about it, Warden Grant could have stop the whole stuff.

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