#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI

#### NO. 2007-WC-2270

# CONNIE RADFORD CLAIMANT/APPELLANT

VS.

## CCA-DELTA CORRECTIONAL FACILITY EMPLOYER/APPELLEE

AND

# ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY OF ILLINOIS CARRIER/APPELLEE

Appeal From The Circuit Court of Leflore County, Mississippi

## BRIEF OF APPELLEES

## **Oral Argument Requested**

F. Hall Bailey Kathryn H. Hester WATKINS LUDLAM, WINTER & STENNIS, P.A. 633 North State Street P. O. Box 427 Jackson, MS 39205-0427 (601) 949-4900

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES CCA-DELTA CORRECTIONAL FACILITY, AND ZURICH AMERICAN INSURANCE COMPANY OF ILLINOIS

.

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2007-WC-2270

#### CONNIE RADFORD

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

#### **II. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The Worker's Compensation Commission is the entity to whom fact finding is entrusted in a disability compensation claim, and its findings are to be upheld if they are supported by substantial evidence. In this mental/mental case, Radford had the burden of proving by clear and convincing evidence that her emotional injury was caused by her employment and that the cause was something more than the general stresses and wear and tear of the workplace.

The Commission found that Radford, "who unquestionably has psychiatric problems which demand medical attention," had failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that her mental condition was caused by her employment at Delta Correctional Facility. The Commission noted that they could not find that the restructuring of a chain of command – one which did not change Radford's responsibilities, wages or status but merely required her to once again report to a Deputy Warden, rather than the Chief Warden - was anything more than an "ordinary incidence of employment." As the Commission poignantly noted, "Mrs. Radford's expectations based up her relationship to Mr. Grant, and not his actions, are what we deem extraordinary." R. 103.

The Commission's findings were supported by both lay and expert testimony. There was conflicting expert medical testimony which the Commission resolved in the DCF's favor. That was the Commission's role and responsibility as the ultimate fact finder, and its findings must be upheld.

t

 $\Gamma^{*}$ 

Т

ı.

ţ

#### III. ARGUMENT

## A. The Mississippi Workers' Compensation Commission is the Finder of Fact and Its Findings Are to Be Upheld If Supported by Substantial Evidence.

In a workers' compensation case, the appellate court reviews not the circuit court's decision nor the administrative law judge's decision, but the ruling of the Workers' Compensation Commission itself. <u>Barnes v. W.S. Newell, Inc.</u>, 949 So. 2d 823, 825 (Miss. App. 2006); <u>Belcher v. Choctaw Maid Farms, Inc.</u>, 785 So. 2d 312, 313 (Miss. App. 2001). The standard of review to be applied is the substantial evidence test. <u>Total Transp., Inc. Of Mississippi v. Shores</u>, 968 So. 2d 400, 403-404 (Miss. 2007) (citing <u>Walker Mfg. Co. v. Cantrell</u>, 577 So. 2d 1243, 1245-47 (Miss.1991)). The substantial evidence test is "limited and deferential," and asks "whether there exists a quantum of credible evidence which supports the decision of the Commission. "<u>Id</u>. (citing Hale v. Ruleville Health Care Ctr., 687 So. 2d 1221, 1224-25 (Miss.1997)).

The deferential substantial evidence standard of review is applied to the Commission's ruling because the Commission, *not* the Administrative Law Judge, is the finder of fact. <u>Natchez Equip. Co. v. Gibbs</u>, 623 So. 2d 270, 271-274 (Miss. 1993). "The Commission is free to accept or reject the ALJ's findings, so long as the Commission's actions are based on substantial evidence." <u>Id</u>. (citing <u>Day-Brite Lighting v. Cummings</u>, 419 So. 2d 211, 213 (Miss. 1982)). In this case, the Commission rejected the ALJ's view of the facts. (record cite). In reviewing such a decision, a court "will not make a determination of the preponderance of the evidence, 'the assumption being that the Commission, as the trier of fact, has previously determined which evidence is credible, has weight, and which is not.'" <u>McGowan v. Orleans Furniture, Inc.</u>, 586 So. 2d 163,

÷

÷

i

164-170 (Miss. 1991)(citing <u>Metal Trims Industries, Inc. v. Stovall</u>, 562 So. 2d 1293, 1297 (Miss. 1990)). Instead, a court must affirm the Commission if the Commission's decision is supported by substantial credible evidence, even if a court's own view of the facts would cause it to rule differently. <u>See South Central Bell Telephone Co. v. Aden</u>, 474 So. 2d 584, 589 (Miss. 1985).

In a case in which the claimant seeks compensation for a <u>sychological</u> or mental injury, the <u>burden of proof</u> is <u>heightened</u>, and the claimant <u>must prove</u> the connection between the injury and her employment by clear and convincing evidence. <u>Sibley v. Unifirst Bank for Sav. ex rel. Resolution Trust Corp.</u>, 699 So. 2d 1214, 1218 (Miss. 1997). In the workers' compensation context, the Mississippi Court of Appeals has defined clear and convincing evidence as

> that weight of proof which produces in the mind of the trier of fact a firm belief or conviction as to the truth of the allegations sought to be established, evidence so clear, direct and weighty and convincing as to enable the fact finder to come to a clear conviction, without hesitancy, of the truth of the precise facts of the case. In fact, "[c]lear and convincing evidence is such a high standard that even the overwhelming weight of the evidence does not rise to the same level."

<u>Hospital Housekeeping Systems, Inc. v. Townsend</u>, 2008 WL 2809060, 7 (Miss. App. 2008). Therefore, when reviewing a decision of the Commission that denies the employee benefits for a mental injury, an appellate court must ask whether substantial evidence supports the finding that the employee's proof did not rise to the high level of clear and convincing.

In this case, the Commission found that the claimant Radford did not show by clear and convincing evidence a connection between her mental injury and her employment. The issue before this Court, therefore, is whether the Commission's decision is supported by substantial evidence. If there is conflicting evidence, the Commission is entitled to have its resolution of that conflict upheld. Radford, however, asserts that the Commission erred because there was substantial evidence to support *her* view of the facts. As the Mississippi Supreme Court in <u>Sibley</u> held, however, the issue is whether there is substantial evidence to support the *Commission's* decision, *not* whether there is substantial evidence to support the claimant's view. <u>Sibley</u>, 699 So. 2d at 1219.

# B. The Commission Found that Claimant Radford Failed To Prove Causation By Clear and Convincing Evidence

To recover compensation benefits for a psychological injury unaccompanied by physical trauma, an employee must show by clear and convincing evidence that (1) the employee endured extraordinary incidents of employment and (2) that those incidents caused, contributed to, or aggravated the employee's mental condition. <u>Bates v.</u> <u>Countrybrook, Living Ctr</u>, 609 So. 2d 1247, 1249 (Miss. 1992); <u>Borden, Inc. v. Eskridge</u>, 604 So. 2d 1071, 1073-74 (Miss. 1991); <u>Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Co</u>, 523 So. 2d 314, 318 (Miss. 1988). The Worker's Compensation Commission found that Radford was unable to show clear and convincing evidence of either element necessary for recovery. These findings were supported by substantial evidence, and therefore, under this Court's deferential standard of review, the Commission should be affirmed.

The Commission statics for reversing the ALJ was because the events that Radford claimed "crushed her" were not extraordinary occurrences or events. Under Mississippi case law, "[t]he mental injury must be caused by some unusual occurrence

or untoward event in order to be compensable." <u>McElveen v. Croft Metals, Inc.</u>, 915 So. 2d 14, 19 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005). Mississippi does not compensate a disability resulting from the "general stress or normal human wear and tear of the workplace." <u>McElveen</u>, 915 So. 2d at 19. Furthermore, even events that the employee categorizes as "harassments" may reasonably be considered the ordinary incidents of employment. <u>Fought v. Stuart C. Irby Co.</u>, 523 So. 2d 314, 317-319 (Miss. 1988).

The Commission determined as the trier of fact that Radford's mental problems were not caused by any extraordinary occurrence at her place of employment. The Commission noted that Radford viewed Warden Grant's change in the chain of command as a "personal indictment" which "crushed her." (Commission Order, p. 3). That change in the chain of command, said the Commission, appeared "perfectly advisable" and not out of the ordinary to the Commission, and thus could not be characterized as an "extraordinary work connected incident" for which benefits might be available. See Fought, 523 So. 2d at 318. R. 103.

The Commission's finding that the change in command was not an extraordinary event is supported by substantial evidence in the record and should be affirmed. After its review of the record, the Commission noted that Warden Grant and his wife and Radford and her husband had a friendly and social relationship. When Warden Grant was promoted to Chief Warden, Radford's husband was appointed acting Deputy Chief. (Commission Order, p. 2). Radford claimed that Warden Grant promised her husband a permanent promotion to Deputy Warden, and when Jackie Banks got the job instead, "she was not welcomed by the Radfords." R. 101. Warden Grant retained Radford reporting to him because the Records Department would otherwise have reported to her

1 :

÷

ļ

husband while he served as temporary Deputy Warden, and Grant retained that supervisory structure even after Jackie Banks was named Deputy Warden. Eventually, according to the Commission findings, Warden Grant determined that "his friendship with the Radfords compromised his ability to be an effective leader and he knew there was talk at the facility concerning his perceived favoritism toward Mrs. Radford and her husband." R. 101-02. In response, Warden Grant changed the chain of command and placed the Records Department, and Radford, under the supervision of Deputy Warden Philip McLaurin. R. 102.

The Commission found that the steps Warden Grant took to restore the original chain of command for the Records Department were reasonable, and it was Radford's expectations, rather than Warden Grant's actions, which were "extraordinary." R. 103. The above discussed evidence supports the Commission's findings. Moreover, the Commission's findings were bolstered by the testimony of Dr. Mark Webb who observed that Radford

made mountains out of mole hills, and she turned a situation into a very complex situation because of her maladaptive traits and the way she looks at the world.

R. 103, n. 2.

į.ι

With regard to the claims that the confrontations with Jackie Banks led to Radford's psychological undoing, the Commission found that there was an abundance of credible evidence to show that Deputy Warden Banks did not treat Radford unfairly or demean or abuse her in any way.

With the burden squarely on Radford to prove her claim, the Commission found that she had not clearly and convincingly established that either Deputy Warden Banks or Chief Warden Grant had subjected Radford to a series of untoward or extraordinary employment related events. Since Radford failed in meeting her burden of proving an essential element of her claim, the Commission denied her claim and reversed and vacated the Administrative Law Judge's Order of April 27, 2005.

# C. There is Substantial Record Evidence to Support the Commission's Decision

In reaching its decision that no causal connection existed between Radford's undisputed mental injury and her employment, the Commission reviewed record testimony of three physicians. The testimony was conflicting, and in fact, Radford claims that the Commission erred by relying on the testimony of the two medical experts offered by the DCF over the testimony of her treating physician. As the Supreme Court has held, however, it is not this Court's responsibility to re-decide the factual question of which medical case was more persuasive. Instead, this Court must only decide if there is substantial evidence that supports the conclusion reached by the Commission. See, e.g., South Central Bell Telephone Co., 474 So. 2d at 589 (Miss. 1985). A quick review of the medical evidence found within the record reflects that the Full Commission Order is amply supported by the record before this Court.

Dr. Melvin Levitch, a psychiatrist practicing in Memphis, Tennessee, treated Radford when she left Delta Corrections Facility in 2000 and diagnosed her with posttraumatic stress disorder, two years prior to the hearing. At the instance of the DCF, Dr. Mark Webb, a psychiatrist practicing in Jackson, Mississippi, performed an independent medical examination. Following his evaluation, Dr. Webb submitted a report finding that Radford was suffering from dysthymia and histrionie personality traits which dated back to the traumas of her childhood. Dr. Webb found that the illnesses were not disabling and that they had not been "prolonged or exacerbated by her employment." Dr. Webb attributed Radford's difficulty at work to her inability to get along with certain people because of her "preexisting, maladaptive personality traits." Dr. Webb found that Radford should continue treatment with Dr. (evitch, that it was not work related but was rather related to her current and previous life stresses. Dr. Webb finalized his opinion with the following summary.

Ms. Radford's employment at the Delta Correctional Facility did not cause any psychiatric injury or illness nor did it prolong or exacerbate her preexisting psychiatric illnesses.

(Employer/Carrier Exhibit 3).

The final physician to testify was Dr. Judith Lyons, a clinical psychologist employed by Veterans Administration Hospital and University Medical Center in Jackson, Mississippi, with a specialty in treatment and research of post-traumatic stress disorder, who testified on behalf of the DCF. Based on the records and testimony<sup>5</sup> of Drs. Ball and Dr. Webb, and based on the testimony at trial, Dr. Lyons testified that Radford was not suffering from post-traumatic stress disorder as previously diagnosed by Dr. Levitch. Rather yous opined that Radford was suffering from a personality disorder known as a borderline disorder which has been defined as a personality disorder marked by a long standing pattern of instability in interpersonal relationships, behavior, mood and self image that can interfere with social or occupational functioning or cause extreme emotional distress. R. 551-652. Dr. Lyons concluded that it was her opinion that the Claimant's mental condition was not caused by her employment at Delta Correctional Facility or by the related incidents involving Warden Banks.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The medical records from Radford's general practitioner treating physician Dr. David Ball were introduced, but Dr. Ball was not called to testify.

The testimony of Drs. Webb and Lyons support the Commission's Order. That testimony conflicted with the testimony of Dr. Levitch who testified about treatment two years before the hearing. It was for the Commission to weigh the credibility of the expert testimony, and it found the testimony of Drs. Webb and Lyons more credible. It is not for the Court to reweigh that testimony.

In a markedly similar case, and in fact involving the testimony of one of the same

physicians, the Mississippi Supreme Court upheld the Commission's Order in the face

of the same arguments that Radford has made.

ì

As to Sibley's contention that the Commission should not have relied upon the testimony of Dr. Lyons because she had not examined Sibley, but testified based upon her evaluation of Sibley's medical and psychiatric records and observation of the trial, discussion of several points is in order. Sibley relies upon Johnson v. Ferguson, 435 So. 2d 1191 (Miss. 1983), to support her contention that the Commission erred in relying upon the testimony of Dr. Lyons rather than that of her treating physicians, Dr. Wheatley and Dr. Guild, and the social worker, Sue Meng. Johnson is distinguishable from the case sub judice in that it involves an A.J. who relied upon the expert testimony of a doctor who did not perform a myelogram even though the physician admitted that such a test was the sole diagnostic tool available to rule out the possibility of a herniated disc. Id. at 1195....

Our rules of evidence state that " the facts or data in the particular case upon which an expert bases an opinion or inference may be those perceived by or made known to him at or before a hearing." M.R.E. 703. In the case sub judice, Dr. Lyons based her opinion upon her observation of Sibley in the hearing and upon the medical and psychiatric records of her treating physicians. The evidence was properly admitted; the only issue to be resolved was the weight to be given to the testimony, a responsibility given to the Commission.

Sibley v. Unifirst Bank for Sav. ex rel. Resolution Trust Corp., 699 So. 2d 1214, 1219

(Miss. 1997)(emphasis added).

In 2004, the Mississippi Supreme Court, in determining whether the decision of

the Commission is supported by substantial evidence, held that the Commission serves

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